

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

WILLIAM C. MACKENZIE)	
)	
Plaintiff,)	
)	
v.)	Civil Action No. 1:10cv167
)	
UNITED STATES SENATOR)	
JEANNE SHAHEEN, <u>et al.</u> ,)	
)	
Defendants.)	
_____)	

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS

Plaintiff William C. Mackenzie (“Plaintiff”) has sued Defendants, United States Senator Jeanne Shaheen (“Shaheen”), Congresswoman Carol Shea-Porter (“Shea-Porter”), Congressman Paul Hodes (“Hodes”), and the United States of America,¹ alleging that their actions taken in connection with the recent passage of health care reform legislation have violated various provisions of the New Hampshire Constitution, the United States Constitution, and federal statutes. Plaintiff seeks injunctive relief as well as damages. For the reasons stated below, all of Plaintiff’s claims should be dismissed with prejudice.

There are numerous reasons justifying dismissal. First, the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over all claims because Defendants are immune from suit as a result of legislative immunity, sovereign immunity, or both. Second, Plaintiff lacks standing to assert his federal and state constitutional claims.

¹As discussed infra, and as detailed in Defendants’ Notice of Removal of Civil Action and Substitution (Dkt. No. 1), although Plaintiff did not name the United States in his suit, the United States has been substituted as party defendant with regard to plaintiff’s state law claims for damages pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2679(d)(2).

Third, even if Plaintiff could somehow overcome legislative and sovereign immunity and lack of standing, he fails to state any cognizable claims for relief. He does not allege facts supporting any violations of either the United States Constitution or any federal statutes, and to the extent that he seeks to use the New Hampshire Constitution to invalidate federal legislation, such an attempt is plainly foreclosed by the Supremacy Clause. Finally, Plaintiff's attempt to force Defendant Shaheen to respond to his inquiry regarding legislation fails because Plaintiff has no right, constitutional or otherwise, to a response.

BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff filed this action in the Superior Court for the Northern District of Hillsborough County, New Hampshire on March 19, 2010. See Notice of Removal of Civil Action and Substitution (Dkt. No. 1) (hereinafter "Notice of Removal"), Ex. A ("Complaint"). In the Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that certain actions of Defendants Shaheen, Hodes, and Shea-Porter taken in connection with the recent passage of H.R. 3590, now the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No. 111-148, 124 Stat. 119 (2010) ("PPACA"), have violated the New Hampshire Constitution, the United States Constitution, and 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1985, and 1986. Plaintiff seeks various types of injunctive relief, including, but not limited to, a declaration that the PPACA is unconstitutional, an order that Senator Shaheen respond to a letter Plaintiff wrote, a declaration that Defendants' votes are invalid, and an order that Defendants do one thousand hours each of community service. Compl. at 8-9. Plaintiff also seeks an award of damages and costs. Compl. at 9 (Prayer for Relief ¶ 11).

The first Defendant received a copy of the Complaint on March 31, 2010. See Notice of Removal ¶ 2. On April 30, 2010, Defendants properly removed this action to this Court pursuant

to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1441, 1442(a)(1), 1446 and 2679(d)(2), and substituted the United States as party defendant for Plaintiff's claims under state law, which must be construed as claims under the Federal Torts Claims Act. See Notice of Removal. Defendants now move to dismiss all claims.

ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE SPEECH OR DEBATE CLAUSE.

The Court lacks jurisdiction over Plaintiff's claims because they are barred by the Speech or Debate Clause, or "legislative immunity." The United States Constitution mandates that "for any Speech or Debate in either House, [Members of Congress] shall not be questioned in any other Place." U.S. Const. art. I, § 6. This clause grants Members of Congress absolute immunity from suit for any civil actions, whether for declaration, injunction, or damages, that "fall within the 'sphere of legitimate legislative activity.'" Eastland v. U.S. Servicemen's Fund, 421 U.S. 491, 501 (1975). Thus, "once it is determined that Members are acting within the 'legitimate legislative sphere' the Speech or Debate Clause is an absolute bar" to any suit against Members based on such activity. Id. at 503. When the Speech or Debate Clause applies to a claim, a federal court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. See Freedom from Religion Found. v. Cong. of the U.S., No. 07-cv-356-SM, 2008 WL 3287225, at *4 (D. N.H. Aug. 7, 2008) (dismissing Congress for lack of subject matter jurisdiction on Speech or Debate Clause grounds).

Virtually all² of Plaintiff's claims relate to the process by which the PPACA was debated and passed, and Defendants' alleged roles in that process. See, e.g., Compl. ¶ 2 ("Defendant's

²Plaintiff's only allegations that might even arguably fall outside the scope of legislative immunity are his claims under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1985 and 1986 concerning actions by union representatives that allegedly took place at a television appearance by Shaheen. Compl. ¶ 3. However, even if legislative immunity does not apply, these claims must be dismissed because they are barred by sovereign immunity, see infra § II, and fail to state a claim, see infra § IV.B.

[sic] ‘unfair means’, that is to say the process by which the United States Congress . . . is attempting to force . . . HR 3590”); ¶ 7 (“Defendant’s votes and actions, in combination with others, violates Plaintiff’s constitutional rights . . .”). As such, these claims fall squarely within the broad category of legislative activity protected by the Speech and Debate Clause. See Eastland, 421 U.S. at 504 (Clause protects all activities “integral” to the “consideration and passage or rejection of proposed legislation”); Kilbourn v. Thompson, 103 U.S. 168, 204 (1880) (Clause applies to “things generally done in a session of the House by one of its members in relation to the business before it,” including “the act of voting”). Similarly, the Speech or Debate Clause also applies to Plaintiff’s allegation, Compl. ¶ 7, that Defendant Shaheen failed to respond to a letter by Plaintiff concerning pending legislation, because a legislator’s expression of views on legislation to a constituent is also protected by the Clause. See DeGenes v. Murphy, No. 07-1370, 2008 WL 450426, at *5 (W.D. Pa. Feb. 15, 2008) (finding that the Clause barred constituent’s claim that Congressman failed to respond to his letter advocating proposed legislation). That Plaintiff claims Defendants have violated the United States Constitution is of no significance; allegations that legislative conduct violates the Constitution do not evade the Speech or Debate bar, as Speech or Debate immunity is absolute. See Bogan v. Scott-Harris, 523 U.S. 44, 54-55 (1998) (barring suit against legislator for voting in favor of ordinance on legislative immunity grounds; Plaintiff had claimed that ordinance violated her First Amendment rights); Rockefeller v. Bingaman, 234 F. App’x 852, 855-56 (10th Cir. 2007) (holding that Speech or Debate Clause barred Plaintiff’s claims that Senators violated Constitution by voting in favor of allegedly unconstitutional legislation).

II. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS ARE ALSO BARRED BY SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.

Even assuming, arguendo, that Defendants are somehow not entitled to legislative immunity, Plaintiff’s suit nonetheless warrants dismissal because sovereign immunity precludes Plaintiff’s claims to the extent he seeks relief against Defendants in their official capacities.³ It is well-established that “[a]bsent a waiver, sovereign immunity shields the Federal Government and its agencies from suit.” FDIC v. Meyer, 510 U.S. 471, 475 (1994). This rule applies equally to Congress as an entity, see Keener v. Cong. of the U.S., 467 F.2d 952, 953 (5th Cir. 1972), and to its individual members, see Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. 159, 165-66 (1985) (explaining that suits against officers in their official capacities are suits against the entity of which an officer is an agent); see also Burke, 2007 WL 2697598, at *3 (holding that sovereign immunity barred claim against United States Senator); Rockefeller, 234 F. App’x at 855-56 (barring suit against Members of Congress based on sovereign immunity).

Sovereign immunity forecloses all of Plaintiff’s claims. None of the federal statutes Plaintiff cites waives the United States’ sovereign immunity. 42 U.S.C. § 1983, by its terms, applies only to state officials, see Redondo-Borges v. U.S. Dep’t of Hous. and Urban Dev., 421 F.3d 1, 6 (1st Cir. 2005), and therefore does not waive sovereign immunity when a complaint, as here, only implicates actions of federal officials. Browne v. Gossett, 259 F. App’x 928, 929 (9th Cir. 2007). Likewise, §§ 1985 and 1986 do not effect a waiver, see Davis v. U.S. Dep’t of

³Although the Complaint does not specify whether Defendants are being sued in their individual or official capacities, where, as here, an action is brought against individual defendants, but the acts complained of consist of actions taken by Defendants in their capacity as officials of the United States, the suit is an official-capacity suit and therefore against the United States. See Burgos v. Milton, 709 F.2d 1, 2 (1st Cir. 1983); Burke v. Allard, No. 06-cv-02203-EWN-BNB, 2007 WL 2697598, at *3 (D. Colo. Sept. 11, 2007) (construing suit against United States Senator for alleged misappropriation of tax dollars to be an official-capacity suit).

Justice, 204 F.3d 723, 726 (7th Cir. 2000); Affiliated Prof'l Home Health Care Agency v. Shalala, 164 F.3d 282, 286 (5th Cir. 1999). In addition, the Administrative Procedure Act's general waiver of immunity for claims for injunctive relief against federal agencies, 5 U.S.C. § 702, does not apply because this waiver explicitly excludes Congress from its definition of "agency." 5 U.S.C. § 701(b)(1)(A). To the extent Plaintiff seeks damages from the United States as a result of purported federal constitutional violations, sovereign immunity prevents him from doing so. See Tapia-Tapia v. Potter, 322 F.3d 742, 745-46 (1st Cir. 2003). Additionally, sovereign immunity applies even to Plaintiff's claims for injunctive relief on federal constitutional grounds, because Members of Congress enjoy the United States' sovereign immunity even under those circumstances. Rockefeller, 234 F. App'x at 856.

Finally, sovereign immunity bars Plaintiff's state law claims because they must be construed as claims subject to the limited immunity waiver of the Federal Tort Claims Act ("FTCA"). The FTCA waives the United States' sovereign immunity for claims for "money damages . . . caused by negligent or wrongful act or omission of any employee of the Government while acting within the scope of his office of employment," 28 U.S.C. § 1346(b)(1). However, the terms of that limited waiver establish the parameters of a court's subject matter jurisdiction to hear such cases. See Manypenny v. United States, 948 F.2d 1057, 1063 (8th Cir. 1991); Irving v. United States, 909 F.2d 598, 600 (1st Cir. 1990).

As a preliminary matter, because the FTCA waives sovereign immunity as to state law claims for "money damages" only, and because Plaintiff has not identified any waiver of sovereign immunity for state law claims for injunctive relief, Plaintiff's claims under the New Hampshire Constitution are barred to the extent they seek injunctive relief. Additionally, as

demonstrated below, Plaintiff's state law claims for damages must be dismissed because Plaintiff has failed to exhaust administrative remedies as required by the FTCA.

All of Plaintiff's state constitutional claims, to the extent Plaintiff seeks damages, must be construed as FTCA claims. Under Section 5 of the Federal Employees Liability Reform and Tort Compensation Act of 1988 ("Westfall Act"), Pub. L. 100-694, 102 Stat. 4563 (1988), codified at 28 U.S.C. § 2679(b), the FTCA is the exclusive remedy for any claims for damages against an employee of the Government who was acting within the scope of his employment, 28 U.S.C. § 2679(b)(1), except for claims under the United States Constitution and under federal statutes, 28 U.S.C. § 2679(b)(2). Accordingly, the FTCA is the exclusive remedy for damages claims under state constitutions against federal employees acting within the scope of their employment. See Papa v. United States, 281 F.3d 1004, 1010 n. 20 (9th Cir. 2002) (holding claims under California constitution subject to FTCA); Mays v. U.S. Postal Serv., 928 F. Supp. 1552, 1561 (M.D. Al. 1996) (substituting United States for claims against federal officers under Alabama constitution); Rosario v. United States, 538 F. Supp. 2d 480, 489-90 (D. P.R. 2008) (finding claims under Puerto Rico Constitution subject to FTCA substitution); Tyson v. Willauer, No. 3:01 CV 1917(GLG), 2002 WL 31094951, at *4 (D. Conn. May 28, 2002) (stating that "[t]here is no precedent in this or any other Circuit supporting Plaintiffs' claim that the FTCA does not apply to state constitutional claims against federal employees"). Members of Congress such as Defendants are "employee[s] of the Government" for FTCA purposes. Williams v. United States, 71 F.3d 502, 504-505 (5th Cir. 1995).

As outlined in the Certifications of United States Attorney John P. Kacavas, Defendants Shaheen, Hodes, and Shea-Porter were acting within the scope of their employment at the time of the events alleged in the Complaint. See Notice of Removal, Ex. C. Accordingly, the United

States has been substituted as party defendant for Plaintiff's damages claims under the New Hampshire Constitution. See Notice of Removal ¶ 11; see also 28 U.S.C. § 2679(d)(2) (providing that upon certification by the Attorney General or his designee that an employee of the Government was acting within the scope of his employment at the time the claim arose, the action must be deemed an action against the United States under the FTCA, and the United States must be substituted as the party defendant); 28 C.F.R § 15.4 (authorizing the United States Attorney for the district where the civil action or proceeding is brought to provide such certification). Additionally, the acts at issue in the Complaint - votes on legislation, the process by which legislation is passed, and communications with constituents - are clearly within the scope of the official duties of a Senator or Member of Congress. See Operation Rescue Nat'l v. United States, 975 F. Supp. 92, 107 (D. Mass. 1997). Accordingly, to the extent that Plaintiff is asserting any claims for damages under the New Hampshire Constitution, such claims are deemed claims against the United States under the FTCA.

As noted above, the terms of the FTCA's waiver of sovereign immunity establish the limits of a court's subject matter jurisdiction over FTCA cases. As a prerequisite to bringing suit under the FTCA, a Plaintiff must first file a claim with the appropriate federal agency. See 28 U.S.C. § 2675(a). This requirement is jurisdictional and cannot be waived, even in deference to a Plaintiff's pro se status. McNeil v. United States, 508 U.S. 106, 113 (1993). Here, Plaintiff nowhere alleges in his Complaint that he has filed a claim with either the Senate or the House of Representatives prior to filing this action.⁴ Accordingly, because Plaintiff does not allege that he

⁴The Senate Sergeant at Arms processes administrative tort claims under the FTCA, see S. Res. 492, 97th Cong. (1982), reprinted in Senate Manual, S. Doc. No. 110-1, at 178-79 (2008), available at <http://www.gpoaccess.gov/smanual/index.html> (last visited May 7, 2010), and claims against Members of the House can be filed with the Office of General Counsel, see U.S. House

has exhausted his administrative remedies under the FTCA, this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over any claim for damages under the New Hampshire Constitution. See, e.g., De Masi v. Schumer, 608 F. Supp. 2d 516, 524-25 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (dismissing state law claims against Senator for failure to exhaust FTCA administrative remedies); Alkadi v. Tancredo, No. 07-cv-00100, 2007 WL 3232205, at *2, *7 (D. Colo. Oct. 29, 2007) (dismissing claim against Member of Congress for failure to exhaust FTCA administrative remedies).⁵

of Representatives, Federal Tort Claims Act Coverage, <http://www.house.gov/leases/federal-tort-claims-act-coverage.shtml> (last visited May 7, 2010).

⁵As discussed above, Defendants have construed this suit as one against Defendants in their official capacities and therefore subject to sovereign immunity. See supra n. 3. However, to the extent that the Complaint can somehow be understood to bring claims against Defendants in their individual capacities pursuant to Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents, 403 U.S. 388 (1971), Defendants are immune under the qualified immunity doctrine, which “protects public officials from civil liability insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known.” Surprenant v. Rivas, 424 F.3d 5, 14 (1st Cir. 2005) (internal citation omitted). As Members of Congress, Defendants may assert qualified immunity just as executive officials can. Walker v. Jones, 733 F.2d 923, 932 (D.C. Cir. 1984).

To determine whether Defendants have violated a clearly established right, this Court must assess “(i) whether the Plaintiff’s allegations, if true, establish a constitutional violation; (ii) whether the constitutional right at issue was clearly established at the time of the putative violation; and (iii) whether a reasonable officer, situated similarly to [] Defendant[s], would have understood the challenged act or omission to contravene the discerned constitutional rights.” Surprenant, 424 F.3d at 14-15. District courts may “exercise their sound discretion in deciding which of the [first] two prongs of the qualified immunity analysis should be addressed [] in light of the circumstances in the particular case at hand.” Pearson v. Callahan, ___ U.S. ___, 129 S. Ct. 808, 818 (2009).

As discussed in greater detail in Sections III-VI, Plaintiff has “failed to allege the violation of any constitutional right, let alone a clearly established one.” Sharratt v. Murtha, No. 3:2008-229, 2010 WL 1212563, at *3 (W.D. Pa. Mar. 26, 2010). Accordingly, to the extent that Plaintiff is purporting to sue them in their individual capacities, Defendants are entitled to qualified immunity.

III. PLAINTIFF LACKS STANDING TO PURSUE HIS FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS.

In addition to the legislative and sovereign immunity bars to Plaintiff's claims, Plaintiff lacks standing to assert any claims under either the United States or New Hampshire Constitutions. Plaintiff does not claim any particularized, actual or imminent injury to himself, and no grounds exist for granting Plaintiff third-party standing.

Under Article III of the Constitution, federal court subject matter jurisdiction is limited to “cases” and “controversies.” Lance v. Coffman, 549 U.S. 437, 439 (2007). Article III accordingly requires a Plaintiff to have standing, id., which encompasses three elements. First, “the Plaintiff must have suffered an injury in fact—an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized, and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical.” Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Second, the alleged injury must be “fairly . . . trace[able] to the challenged action of the Defendant.” Id. Finally, “it must be likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision.” Id. at 561.

Because a Plaintiff's injury must be “concrete and particularized” to establish standing, the Plaintiff “must have more than ‘a general interest common to all members of the public.’” Lance, 549 U.S. at 440 (quoting Ex parte Levitt, 302 U.S. 633, 634 (1937)). A Plaintiff who alleges that he is aggrieved because “the law . . . has not been followed” asserts “precisely the kind of undifferentiated, generalized grievance about the conduct of government” that is insufficient to confer standing. Lance, 549 U.S. at 442. If standing is at issue in a case, “heightened specificity is obligatory at the pleading stage.” United States v. AVX Corp., 962 F.2d 108, 115 (1st Cir. 1992); see also Munoz-Mendoza v. Pierce, 711 F.2d 421, 425 (1st Cir.

1983) (“Where ‘injury’ and ‘cause’ are not obvious, the Plaintiff must plead their existence in his complaint with a fair degree of specificity.”).

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts supporting Article III standing for his federal or state constitutional claims. The Complaint is replete with “generalized grievances” that do not support standing. See, e.g., Compl. ¶ 8 (“Defendant’s [sic] actions in attempting to bring about socialized medicine are undemocratic and un-American.”); ¶ 9 (“If Defendants’ [sic] . . . are allowed to impose their HR3590 agenda; they will have unilaterally dissolved vital parts of the New Hampshire and Untied States Constitutions . . .”). Plaintiff fails to assert any particularized injuries that are “actual or imminent” and traceable to the Defendants’ actions.

To the extent that Plaintiff, at various points, alleges certain injuries to himself, those injuries do not establish standing. Plaintiff claims a “right to representation” under the United States Constitution, Compl. ¶ 2, but does not indicate the source of this right, what it encompasses, or how one Senator and two Members of Congress allegedly deprived him of this right. Similarly, Plaintiff alleges that his “volunteer efforts in the New Hampshire election process” were “rendered worthless,” Compl. ¶ 3, but the mere fact that Congress reached an outcome that Plaintiff did not desire does not mean that Plaintiff suffered any invasion of a legally protected interest. Plaintiff’s conclusory allegation that he “only has a choice as to which death pill,” Compl. ¶ 5, does not describe his alleged injury with any specificity; likewise, his assertion that Defendants’ actions “penaliz[e] private sector practitioners in the field of health care at Plaintiff’s expense,” Compl. ¶ 6, does not allege how when, or why he will suffer any

alleged “expense.” Plaintiff also claims that he will be denied “his right to contract with providers without government interference,” Compl. ¶ 5, but Plaintiff has no such right.⁶

Plaintiff also lacks standing to vindicate the rights of third parties whom he alleges have been injured, namely, “Republican Senators, including Judd Gregg,” Compl. ¶ 2, and private health care practitioners, Compl. ¶ 6. To maintain third-party standing, a plaintiff must show “first, ‘that the litigant personally has suffered an injury in fact that gives rise to a sufficiently concrete interest in the adjudication of the third party's rights’; second, ‘that the litigant has a close relationship to the third party’; and third, ‘that some hindrance exists that prevents the third party from protecting its own interests.’” Council Of Ins. Agents & Brokers v. Juarbe-Jimenez, 443 F.3d 103, 108 (1st Cir. 2006) (citing Eulitt v. Me., Dep’t of Educ., 386 F.3d 344, 351 (1st Cir. 2004)). None of the three prongs is met. As demonstrated supra, Plaintiff has suffered no injury. Additionally, the Complaint does not allege that Plaintiff has a close relationship with Senators or private health care practitioners, or that those parties would be incapable of asserting their own rights. Accordingly, Plaintiff cannot maintain third-party standing.

Finally, even if Plaintiff could somehow allege an injury-in-fact, his claims do not meet the second two prongs of standing - causation and redressability. See Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560-61. The gravamen of plaintiff's complaint - that the process by which health care legislation was passed violates the law - is not traceable to, or redressable by, the three Members of Congress named as Defendants, or even by the entire Congress. Cf. Bowsher v. Synar, 478 U.S. 714, 733-34 (1986) (“[O]nce Congress makes its choice in enacting legislation, its participation ends.

⁶As discussed infra in Section IV, the Contracts Clause, which Plaintiff cites for this principle, is inapplicable.

Congress can thereafter control the execution of its enactment only indirectly - by passing new legislation.”).

IV. PLAINTIFF ALLEGES NO FACTS SUPPORTING FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY VIOLATIONS.

Even if Defendants somehow were not immune from suit and Plaintiff somehow had standing, his allegations of violations of the United States Constitution and federal statutes utterly fail to state a claim for relief. “To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, ___ U.S. ___, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009) (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). Here, Plaintiff does not cite to any provisions of the PPACA, or to any specific actions taken by Defendants Shaheen, Hodes, and Shea-Porter that would support any of his claims against them. Plaintiff’s allegations do not come close to meeting the Iqbal standard; rather, the Complaint’s allegations “are patently frivolous, entirely lacking in record support, or both.” Hennessy v. City of Melrose, 194 F.3d 237, 244 (1st Cir. 1999).

A. Federal Constitutional Claims.

Plaintiff first claims that his “right of representation” was violated because of the process leading to Congressional passage of the PPACA. Compl. ¶ 2. Plaintiff does not cite any constitutional provision, and in fact, a plaintiff may not raise a claim based on the process by which an enrolled bill, signed by the leaders of the House and Senate, was passed. See Public Citizen v. U.S. Dist. Court for the Dist. of Columbia, 486 F.3d 1342, 1351 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (canvassing the longstanding case law recognizing that under the “enrolled bill rule” of Marshall Field & Co. v. Clark, 143 U.S. 649 (1892), courts do not delve “into the internal governance of

Congress” to evaluate the means by which laws were passed). Likewise, there is no constitutional right to having one’s elected representative act in the manner one would prefer. See, e.g., Richards v. Harper, 864 F.2d 85, 88 (9th Cir. 1988) (affirming district court finding that “[a] constituent is not entitled to sue for damages simply because his or her representative fails to resolve a petition as the constituent wishes”).

Plaintiff next claims that Defendants violated Article I, Section 6, which requires that members of Congress “be privileged from Arrest during their Attendance at the Session of their respective Houses,” by “effectively put[ting] Republican Seantors . . . under a form of arrest, a ‘congressional-house arrest’; prohibiting them from participation in the closed door sessions.” Compl. ¶ 2. This clause, by its terms, confers no rights on Plaintiff, but only on Members of Congress; Plaintiff therefore has neither rights under the clause, nor standing to sue, and he cannot maintain third-party standing on behalf of “Republican Senators” for the reasons stated supra in Section III. Finally, Plaintiff’s characterization of a “congressional-house arrest” notwithstanding, the facts alleged - the holding of meetings open to some legislators, but not all - do not come close to amounting to an “Arrest” within the meaning of Article I, Section 6.

Plaintiff next alleges a violation of his right to “a republican form of government,” because his “volunteer efforts in the New Hampshire election process” have been “rendered worthless.” Compl. ¶ 3 (citing U.S. Const. art. IV, § 4 (the “Guarantee Clause”)). This claim fails because, even “if claims [under the Guarantee Clause] . . . are justiciable at all,” Largess v. Supreme Judicial Court of Mass., 373 F.3d 219, 228 (1st Cir. 2004),⁷ and capable of being

⁷Compare Colegrove v. Green, 328 U.S. 549, 556 (1946) (holding that claims under the Guarantee Clause are nonjusticiable) with New York v. United States, 505 U.S. 144, 184-85 (1992) (suggesting that some claims under the clause might be justiciable, but declining to reach the question).

brought by an individual, as opposed to a state, id., the Clause by its terms “guarantee[s] to every State . . . a Republican Form of Government,” U.S. Const. art. IV, § 4 (emphasis added). It thus has no application to Plaintiff’s claims, which stem from the alleged “deni[al of] a voice” to certain federal officials. Compl. ¶ 3. Moreover, even if the clause had some application to the federal government, it guarantees only the basic fundamentals of republican governance, and is accordingly applicable only “in highly limited circumstances,” Largess, 373 F.3d at 228, such as “abolish[ing] the legislature” or “establishment of a monarchy,” id. at 229. Clearly, the Complaint alleges no such circumstances, but merely alleges that Congress passed legislation without the support or involvement of Plaintiff’s preferred legislators.

Plaintiff additionally alleges that his rights under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment have been violated, because he “only has a choice as to which death pill.” Compl. ¶ 5. This conclusory allegation, offered without any explanation, factual support, or citation to any provision of law, is not “plausible on its face.” Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949. In addition, Plaintiff alleges a violation of the Contracts Clause. Compl. ¶ 5. This claim fails because the Contracts Clause operates against only states, and not the federal government. See U.S. Const. art. I, § 10 (“No State shall . . . pass any . . . Law impairing the Obligation of Contracts.”) (emphasis added); Hammond v. United States, 786 F.2d 8, 16 (1st Cir. 1986).

Finally, Plaintiff claims a violation of the Tenth Amendment based on an alleged distinction between private health care practitioners and “government run hospitals and clinics.” Compl. ¶ 6. As discussed supra, Plaintiff lacks standing to raise a claim based on any such distinction because he does not allege that he is a private health care practitioner, or any facts that support third-party standing. See Council Of Ins. Agents & Brokers, 443 F.3d at 108. Additionally, as a private individual, he lacks standing to bring a Tenth Amendment claim at all.

See Medeiros v. Vincent, 431 F.3d 25, 34-36 (1st Cir. 2005). Moreover, the facts alleged do not support a claim under the Tenth Amendment, which concerns the balance of power between states and the federal government. Cf. New York, 505 U.S. at 160-166 (discussing Tenth Amendment jurisprudence). Finally, even if the Court were to construe this claim liberally and treat it as an allegation of an Equal Protection violation, such a claim would fail as well, as Plaintiff has not alleged that he is a member of a class of people allegedly treated differently from others similarly situated and that there was no rational basis for the treatment, Hennessy, 194 F.3d at 244, or that he is a member of a “suspect class” whose unequal treatment would warrant heightened judicial scrutiny, Cook v. Gates, 528 F.3d 42, 61 (1st Cir. 2008).

B. Federal Statutory Claims.

Plaintiff also alleges claims under three federal civil rights statutes, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Compl. ¶ 9; § 1985, id. ¶ 3, and § 1986, id. ¶ 3. None of Plaintiff’s allegations raises claims on which the Court can grant relief.

Section 1983, which provides a cause of action for the violation of federal rights, applies only to acts of state officials, not federal officials (in the absence of a conspiracy between state and federal officials, which Plaintiff has not alleged). See Redondo-Borges, 421 F.3d at 6. Accordingly, Plaintiff cannot raise a Section 1983 claim against Defendants, who are not state officials.

Plaintiff also alleges claims under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1985(1) and 1985(3), both apparently based on his allegations that he experienced “heavy handed . . . tactics,” including having a sign removed from his hands, from certain union representatives at a television appearance by Shaheen. Compl. ¶ 3. Plaintiff does not allege any facts that would plausibly indicate that any of the conduct at issue is attributable to Shaheen, Hodes, or Shea-Porter. Accordingly, the

Complaint fails to state any claim at all against Defendants based on these events, let alone any violations of § 1985.

In any event, § 1985 does not apply here. The portion of Section 1985(1) cited by Plaintiff provides a cause of action

[i]f two or more persons in any State or Territory conspire to prevent, by force, intimidation, or threat, any person from accepting or holding any office, trust, or place of confidence under the United States, or from discharging any duties thereof . . .

42 U.S.C. § 1985(1). As such, “the statute’s protections extend exclusively to the benefit of federal officers.” Canlis v. San Joaquin Sheriff’s Posse Comitatus, 641 F.2d 711, 717 (9th Cir. 1981); Templeman v. Beasley, No. C-92-643-L, 1993 WL 436842, at *3 (D. N.H. Aug. 23, 1993). Plaintiff is not a federal officer, nor does he assert that any federal officer was prevented from accepting or holding federal office or discharging official duties; he therefore cannot assert a claim under this provision. Similarly, the clause of § 1985(3) quoted by Plaintiff provides a cause of action

. . . if two or more persons conspire to prevent by force, intimidation, or threat, any citizen who is lawfully entitled to vote, from giving his support or advocacy in a legal manner, toward or in favor of the election of any lawfully qualified person as an elector for President or Vice President, or as a Member of Congress of the United States; or to injure any citizen in person or property on account of such support or advocacy . . .

42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). Because Plaintiff does not allege that Defendants - or anyone - interfered with his right to vote or advocate on behalf of a candidate in a federal election, his claims under the “support or advocacy” clause of § 1985(3) must fail. See, e.g., Gray v. Town of Darien, 927 F.2d 69, 73 (2d Cir. 1991); Pettengill v. Putnam County R-1 Sch. Dist., 472 F.2d 121, 122-23 (8th Cir. 1973); Cal. Republican Party v. Mercier, 652 F. Supp. 928, 936-37 (C.D. Cal.1986).

Finally, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants violated 42 U.S.C. § 1986, apparently asserting that one or more of the Defendants knew of the alleged conduct at the television appearance, had the power to prevent them, and neglected or refused to do so. See 42 U.S.C. § 1986. This claim fails because Plaintiff does not allege any facts indicating that any of the Defendants had the requisite knowledge, power to prevent, and neglect or refusal. It also fails because a viable § 1985 claim is a prerequisite to an actionable § 1986 claim, Perkins v. Silverstein, 939 F.2d 463, 472 (7th Cir. 1991), and for the reasons discussed above, Plaintiff has no claim under § 1985. Accordingly, Plaintiff fails to state a claim for relief under either § 1985 or § 1986.

V. THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE BARS PLAINTIFF’S ATTEMPT TO INVALIDATE FEDERAL LEGISLATION ON STATE CONSTITUTIONAL GROUNDS.

Throughout his Complaint, Plaintiff argues that various provisions of the New Hampshire Constitution, particularly Part Second, Article 83, require the invalidation of the PPACA. See, e.g., Compl. ¶ 1. As discussed supra, Plaintiff’s claims under the New Hampshire Constitution are barred by legislative immunity, sovereign immunity, and lack of standing. Additionally, to the extent that Plaintiff seeks to invalidate federal law based on a violation of the New Hampshire Constitution, his claims are barred by the United States Constitution’s Supremacy Clause. See U.S. Const. art. VI, Clause 2 (“This Constitution, and the Laws of the United States . . . shall be the supreme Law of the Land”); see also Crosby v. Nat’l Foreign Trade Council, 530 U.S. 363, 372 (2000) (state law is “preempted to the extent of any conflict with a federal statute”). Accordingly, Plaintiff’s state constitutional claims fail for this additional reason.

VI. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIM BASED ON THE FAILURE TO RESPOND TO HIS LETTER MUST BE DISMISSED.

Finally, Plaintiff has no legal grounds to raise a claim based on Defendant Shaheen’s alleged failure to respond to his letter. Compl. ¶ 7 and at 9. As discussed supra, this claim is barred by the Speech and Debate Clause and by sovereign immunity. In addition, Plaintiff lacks standing to bring such a claim; a failure by a Senator or Congressman to respond to a letter does not constitute an injury in fact as Plaintiff has no constitutional or statutory right to a response from an elected official. See DeGenes, 2008 WL 450426, at *3. Finally, “[n]umerous courts have recognized that elected members of the House and Senate cannot be sued simply because a constituent believes that member has failed to take a certain action or respond to the constituent’s request for assistance.” Stergios v. Collins, Civil No. 9-410-P-S, 2009 WL 2986746, at *3 (D. Me. Sept. 16, 2009) (collecting cases). In short, Plaintiff’s attempt to seek an order from the Court forcing Shaheen to respond to his letter must be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, all of Plaintiff's claims must plainly be dismissed. The Court lacks jurisdiction to consider them, and even if it had jurisdiction, they would all fail on the merits. The Complaint should be dismissed with prejudice in its entirety.

Dated: May 7, 2010

Respectfully submitted,

TONY WEST
Assistant Attorney General

SHEILA LIEBER
Deputy Branch Director

/s/ Jesse Z. Grauman
Jesse Z. Grauman (Va. Bar No. 76782)
U.S. Department of Justice
Civil Division, Federal Programs Branch
Mailing Address: Post Office Box 883
Washington, D.C. 20044
Courier Address: 20 Massachusetts Ave., NW
Room 6141
Washington, D.C. 20001
Telephone: (202) 514-2849
Fax: (202) 616-8460
Email: jesse.z.grauman@usdoj.gov

JOHN P. KACAVAS
United States Attorney

By: /s/ T. David Plourde
T. David Plourde (NH Bar No. 2044)
Assistant United States Attorney
53 Pleasant Street, 4th Floor
Concord, NH 03301-3904
Telephone: 603-225-1552
david.plourde@usdoj.gov

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on May 7, 2010, I electronically filed this Memorandum of Law In Support of Motion to Dismiss through the Court's CM/ECF system. I also sent a copy of such filing via mail to the following individuals:

William C. Mackenzie
73 Tipping Rock Road
Goffstown, NH 03045

/s/ Jesse Z. Grauman
Jesse Z. Grauman (Va. Bar No. 76782)
U.S. Department of Justice
Civil Division, Federal Programs Branch
Mailing Address: Post Office Box 883
Washington, D.C. 20044
Courier Address: 20 Massachusetts Ave., NW
Room 6141
Washington, D.C. 20001
Telephone: (202) 514-2849
Fax: (202) 616-8460
Email: jesse.z.grauman@usdoj.gov